
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
TOWNSHIP OF WEST MILFORD, COUNTY OF PASSAIC, NEW JERSEY 
 
Minutes of: Township Council Special Meeting 
Date of Meeting: February 20, 2007 
Time of Meeting: 7:30 P.M. 
Minute Page No: Page 1 of 6 
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Mayor Joseph Di Donato called the Special Meeting of the West Milford Township Council to 
order. 
 
Adequate Notice Statement 
Mayor Di Donato read the following statement: 
Please note that in accordance with Chapter 231, Public Laws of 1975 of New Jersey, adequate 
advance notice of this special meeting was advertised in the Herald News in its issue of February 
18, 2007; copies were provided to the Record, Star Ledger, Suburban Trends and Greenwood 
Lake News and posted continuously on the bulletin board in the main corridor of the Town Hall 
and on file in the Office of the Township Clerk.  There may be a quorum of the Township�s 
Planning Board and Environmental Commission members in attendance at this meeting.   
 
Pledge of Allegiance 
 
Mayor Di Donato led all in attendance in a salute to the flag. 
 
Roll Call 
 
Present:  Councilmembers Philip Weisbecker, Joseph Smolinski, Robert Nolan,  

James Warden, Carmelo Scangarello, Mayor Joseph DiDonato 
Absent:  Salvatore Schimmenti. 
Also Present:   Township Clerk Antoinette Battaglia 
 
Purpose 
 
Mayor DiDonato advised Councilman Schimmenti cannot attend tonight�s meeting because he is 
ill.  He also noted that the Planning Board Chairman, Michael Tfank, had intended to be at this 
meeting, but he is also ill.  The purpose of tonight�s meeting is to gather information and discuss 
the Highlands Master Plan with two members of the Highlands Council, Mr. Tom Borden and Ms. 
Maryjude Haddock-Weiler.  They will conduct a short presentation for which the Council will sit in 
the audience.  The Council will then return to the dais and pose any questions they may have.   
After that, the Board & Commission members as well as the public will be given an opportunity to 
ask questions.   
 
Mr. Borden thanked everyone for inviting him and Ms. Haddock-Weiler to tonight�s meeting.  He 
advised that he is the Deputy-Executive of the Highlands Council and works for the newly-created 
planning board for the Highlands region.  Ms. Haddock-Weiler is a Highland�s planner.  He stated 
that West Milford will be drastically impacted by the Highlands Act.  The federal government 
initiated much of the planning for the Highlands region between 1992 and 2000.  The state 
adopted the Highlands Act in 2004 and the Highlands Council was charged with developing a 
master plan for the entire region which included eighty-eight municipalities and seven counties.  
They conducted a resource assessment and an analysis of resources focusing on water quality 
and quantity as well as preservation of a host of other resources.  Much of the work thus far has 
not been based on local planning which means that there is room for improvement based on 
municipal knowledge.  The regional master plan has been compiled and the data is supported by 
over thirteen technical reports with data and analyses.  There is a regional land use capability 
map and county land use capability maps with the land use capability map atlas posted on the 
website.  Many consultants worked on the plan which includes a US geological survey for water 
availability analysis.  That will be key to municipal planning.  There was also an eco-system 
analysis to determine forest resources.  Air quality was also studied and consultants analyzed 
water and wastewater infrastructure, population density, and existing patterns of growth.  The 
analyses recognized areas in the preservation zone that are potentially available for growth.  
There are three zones recognized on a regional scale.  They are the planned community zones, 
the protection zone and the conservation zone.   
 
In the planned community zones, growth would be decided at the local level.  That Highlands 
Council policy is codified in the plan.  Such designation does not mean that an area must grow; it 
means that an area may grow.  As a result of the comments received from the public, the 
Highlands Council is considering creating a mechanism wherein lake communities would be 
treated separately because such communities face different challenges.  The Highlands Council 
intends to be very responsive to public comments and they plan to make changes to the plan 
accordingly.  The next phase of this process will be the conformance process wherein 
municipalities will be given time to update their master plans and zoning ordinances.  The 
Highlands Council is seeking feedback on municipal planning and obligations.  They encourage 
brown-field and grey-field development, promote redevelopment and the use of existing 
infrastructure for growth areas.  Local officials know this information and the Highlands Council 
will obtain it during the conformance process.  The Highlands Council understands that there are 
resources in the planned community zones that require protection.  The Highlands Council will 

id26076856 pdfMachine by Broadgun Software  - a great PDF writer!  - a great PDF creator! - http://www.pdfmachine.com  http://www.broadgun.com 



------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
TOWNSHIP OF WEST MILFORD, COUNTY OF PASSAIC, NEW JERSEY 
 
Minutes of: Township Council Special Meeting 
Date of Meeting: February 20, 2007 
Time of Meeting: 7:30 P.M. 
Minute Page No: Page 2 of 6 
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
work with municipal officials bringing technical expertise and planning assistance to the process.  
Funding in the amount of $12 million is available for plan implementation.  There are provisions in 
the act for property tax stabilization and moratorium aid is also available.   
 
Mr. Borden stated that there are seventeen exemptions that property owners should know about.  
The key ones are single family home exemptions and the exemption for commercial activities for 
developing existing structures.  There is a built-in system to assure equity is addressed for those 
who want to avail of the green acres program.   
 
The Council returned to the dais. 
 
Councilman Weisbecker stated that the lake communities in West Milford are very sensitive to the 
purple blotches (planned community zones) on the maps.  He asked if the Highlands Council has 
toured these areas.  Mr. Borden answered in the affirmative advising that, in certain communities 
including West Milford, they conducted a program to investigate planning issues.  The process, 
thus far, has shown that the Highlands Council should be developing a lake community zone 
because of the different and unique challenges faced by lake communities.  Councilman 
Weisbecker reviewed some specific issues relative to certain lakes in West Milford and stated 
that the Highlands Council is qualifying these areas as being open to development.  He noted that 
many of these lake communities have associations who monitor their waters regularly.  He asked 
if the Highlands Council conducted such analyses.  Mr. Borden stated that, in future stages of this 
process, they will research all lake communities at the local level with funding from the state.  
Councilman Weisbecker stated that he is very concerned about the possibility that the Highlands 
Council will develop a large sewer plan.  He stated that the purple blotches on the map reflect a 
plan developed by the West Milford MUA in 1999.  Mr. Borden stated that this is not the intent of 
the planned communities zone and he further stated that the MUA plan was not the basis for the 
designations.  He stated that the planned community zones were designated based on existing 
sewer and water structures to identify areas where development is already occurring.  He stated 
that municipal discretion is key to the growth issue and if any municipality does not want to 
increase density, that is their decision.  Each solution will be dependent on how the municipality 
wants to solve these problems and the Highlands Council will not be dictating solutions.   
 
Councilman Weisbecker stated that home rule has been eroded by the Highlands Act.  If a 
municipality does not conform, that municipality will forego grants and funding.  Mr. Borden 
replied that the Highlands Council does not have any preconceived solutions and they would 
engage local professionals for solutions.  Councilman Weisbecker, noting that building has been 
curtailed in West Milford, questioned how West Milford will meet third round COAH demands.  Mr. 
Borden answered that COAH has been thrown into a tailspin as a result of the Highlands Act.  
There will continue to be much litigation before a resolution is known.  The Highlands Council is 
proactive on this matter and has been engaged in discussions with COAH.  The preservation 
area will alter the pattern of growth and the implications for West Milford will be profound.  The 
Highlands Council intends to force COAH to recognize the constraints of the land in the 
Highlands region and recommends that there must be an alternate means of compliance.  COAH 
planning, he said, is a required element of the conformance stage.  Councilman Weisbecker 
questioned why in the Flemington area, there is a planning area in the middle of the protection 
zone and it is all water.  Mr. Borden advised that the legislature provided the Highlands Council 
with the delineations within which they had to work noting that they do not have the authority to 
redraw the preservation line.   
 
Councilman Smolinski asked what consideration has been given to end user fees and property 
tax relief asking if there is a clash with the governor�s proposed tax reform.  He noted that West 
Milford provides a commodity that over four million people use.  However, at the state level, West 
Milford is considered a small voting block and it appears that West Milford residents are being 
taken advantage of by not being compensated for our water or our land.  The proposed funding in 
the current Act is for land acquisition but West Milford needs help for property tax relief.  Mr. 
Borden replied that the Highlands Council believes that additional funds, dedicated to the 
Highlands region, are paramount and necessary so much so that they included a proposed tax in 
their plan to be used for property tax relief.  Councilman Smolinski noted that the legislature�s 
version of water tax as proposed in 2006 would use the funding for infrastructure and that would 
not benefit West Milford residents.  He further expressed concerns that the state will dictate the 
use of open space funds to force the municipality to purchase land based on the state�s desire 
rather than the town�s desire.  Mr. Borden stated that, in the plan, there is a process for 
prioritization at the local level which can be used as a tool for open space planning.   
 
Councilman Nolan thanked Mr. Borden and Ms. Haddock-Weiler for coming to West Milford 
tonight.  He sought confirmation that the Highlands Council plans to revisit the lake communities 
in the Highlands region and was answered in the affirmative.  Councilman Nolan advised the 
Highlands representatives that well studies conducted in West Milford have consistently indicated 



------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
TOWNSHIP OF WEST MILFORD, COUNTY OF PASSAIC, NEW JERSEY 
 
Minutes of: Township Council Special Meeting 
Date of Meeting: February 20, 2007 
Time of Meeting: 7:30 P.M. 
Minute Page No: Page 3 of 6 
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
that West Milford has more wells than is advisable and any additional growth will exacerbate that 
problem. The council is proactive in that they will soon introduce a lawn fertilizer ordinance to 
protect West Milford lakes.  Mr. Borden stated that the Highlands Council performed an analysis 
that indicated that many municipalities have a deficit of water supplies thus, even if they wanted 
to grow, they cannot.  Councilman Nolan stated that, in the pre-conformance requirements in the 
plan, it says that the Highlands Council shall establish growth.  Mr. Borden clarified that the plan 
lays out policies and pre-conformance work that the Highlands Council must do before 
municipalities become involved in the process.  He also indicated that municipalities, depending 
how far they are in the process, may want to wait for Highlands Council input before adopting 
septic ordinances and funding for such measures may become available.  The provisions 
pertaining to the transfer of development rights (TDRs) would provide more money for property 
owners who wish to preserve property.  A receiving area designation is completely voluntary and 
it gives municipalities authority to charge impact fees.  The Highlands Council will encourage 
receiving areas to be outside of the Highlands area.  Councilman Nolan asked if there will be 
constraints on or consideration given to buildings for public purposes.  Mr. Borden stated that the 
Highlands Council hopes to increase their knowledge of local plans for such expansion or 
development and he encouraged municipalities to bring such information to the council sooner 
rather than later.   
 
Councilman Warden thanked Mr. Borden for speaking with the Council tonight.  This community, 
he said has many concerns and he asked if the Highlands Council met with Township officials 
when drafting this plan.  Mr. Borden stated that the Highlands Council does not have all the local 
knowledge needed and thus adjustments and revisions are expected on forthcoming local 
knowledge.  The process of conformance will allow that local knowledge to come forth.  
Councilman Warden expressed that it is hypocritical that the Township is fending off 
developments while the Highlands Council has designated certain areas for growth.  Mr. Borden 
stated that there will be protection from developments going forward.  Councilman Warden stated 
that the Council is not in favor of the designations on the Highlands Council map, specifically the 
purple blotches around our lakes.  He noted that very lake listed on a letter from the MUA to the 
DEP in March 2006 is designated by the Highlands Council as a planned development area and 
residents have been told that these designations came from Township officials.  Noting that the 
Township Council did not provide that information, he asked if it came from the MUA.  Mr. Borden 
stated that the zones were not designated on sewerage plans.  The Highlands Council may have 
designated an area as having potential for growth, but the prerogative remains with the local 
authorities.  The municipality, he said, determines the development in town.   
 
Councilman Scangarello stated that, while $12 million may appear to be a substantial sum of 
money, these funds are being earmarked for eighty-eight municipalities.  He asked when West 
Milford can get funds.  Mr. Borden stated that the conformance process will require additional 
planning at the local level and funding will be provided to assist with that planning.  
Disbursements will depend on how many municipalities participate in the plan.  The planning will 
require prioritization and thus funds will be designated.  Noting that there has already been a 
shortfall in green acres funding, he asked if the proposed funding for the conformance process 
has already been allocated.  Mr. Borden responded that, in addition to a water tax fee, re-
issuance of preservation dollars from the state is a key issue which will come before the 
taxpayers in November.   
 
Public Comments 
 
Mayor Di Donato opened the meeting to the public.   
 
John Murrin, Mayor, Pompton Lakes stated that his municipality just finished their master plan 
without financial assistance.  He stated that Pompton Lakes has three wells and well-head 
protection ordinances.  He asked for assurances that the Highlands Council will take those into 
consideration.  Mr. Borden stated that funds will be available to municipalities for ordinance 
updates.  Mr. Murrin strongly recommended that the Highlands Council give consideration to what 
has been already done at the local level before they take any further action.   
 
Bill O�Hearn, Councilman, Ringwood stated that Ringwood sees their COAH obligations as an 
impossible challenge in the Highlands preservation area.  They would like to construct affordable 
units rather than have large developments where a percentage of the units fulfill their COAH 
obligations.  He expressed concern about the legal rendering in Bloomingdale and stated that 
Ringwood needs the Highlands Council to be sensitive in dealing with COAH issues.  Mr. Borden 
replied that inclusionary development patterns will be problematic but the Highlands Council has 
a required element in the plan to tackle COAH obligations.  They also plan to provide COAH with 
assistance in understanding the Highlands map to avoid conflict with the master plan.   
 



------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
TOWNSHIP OF WEST MILFORD, COUNTY OF PASSAIC, NEW JERSEY 
 
Minutes of: Township Council Special Meeting 
Date of Meeting: February 20, 2007 
Time of Meeting: 7:30 P.M. 
Minute Page No: Page 4 of 6 
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Wenke Taule, Councilwoman, Ringwood asked why the Highlands Council does not simply 
remove the purple blotches from the map.  Mr. Borden replied that, like it or not, those areas 
exhibit patterns of existing development.  If local authorities do not want development in those 
areas, they have the prerogative to prevent it.  Ms. Taule asked if it would be appropriate for the 
Highlands Council to pressure the EPA to conduct hydro-geological studies at superfund sites.  
Mr. Borden replied that the Highlands Council wishes to advocate for proper remedies with all 
government agencies.   
 
Roger Vanderbeek, West Milford stated that he received approval for a subdivision prior to the 
Highlands Act.  He asked if there is a time limit.  Mr. Borden responded that, if one obtained local 
approval before March 2004, one is exempt if construction takes place before August 2007.  If 
someone owns a single-family home lot that existed before the Highlands Act, that is also 
exempt.  He recommended that Mr. Vanderbeek obtain a DEP exemption determination saying 
that the lots existed before the act.  Mr. Vanderbeek stated that he had sixty acres that cannot be 
developed or subdivided as a result of the Highlands Act.  He asked if he will be compensated for 
his losses.  Mr. Borden stated that the Highlands Council will review such matters on an individual 
basis. 
 
Laticia Monroe, Newfoundland expressed concern about the purple blotches.  It appears that, 
those areas are not being afforded Highlands protection.  There are environmental resources in 
those areas that warrant protection.  She asked if the Highlands Council will ensure protection for 
those areas if they are notified by the local authorities that they do not want growth in those 
areas.  Mr. Borden encouraged all Councils to raise issues of concern early in the process.   
 
Joy Farber, Vice-Chair of Ringwood Planning Board stated that the Highlands Act received a lot 
of regional support because of concerns for water.  She asked if the Highlands Council accounted 
for depleting water supplies and withdrawals in the plan.  Mr. Borden replied that the Highlands 
Council did an accounting of allocation and well permits to account for depletive assumptive uses.  
In the future, they want municipal water analyses to update that information.  There is a difference 
between individual users and permits.  Ms. Farber noted that public water supplies, not individual 
well owners, have protection under the plan.  She asked that the Highlands Council incorporate a 
meaningful legal shield for individual well owners.  She asked about COAH and third round 
certification.  Mr. Borden stated that the Highlands Council is working on a memo of agreement 
with COAH.  However, COAH standards are in limbo at the moment which may provide additional 
opportunities to revisit the process. 
 
Michael Siesta, West Milford Planning Board noted that much of the detail in the master plan is 
compiled on a regional basis adding that it is difficult to determine the impact to West Milford.  He 
stated that the regulations are being put into place before the needed funds are appropriated.  
Municipalities cannot determine the cost impact until the Highlands Council completes their work.  
Mr. Borden agreed noting that the Highlands Council cannot determine how much to allocate to 
West Milford until they begin the conformance process.  Mr. Siesta, noting that the plan focuses 
on preservation, urged consideration of conservation initiatives throughout the state.   
 
Frank Hannan, West Milford Zoning Board expressed concern about any effort to rush through 
the process.  He noted that there is a significant need for local input.  Mr. Borden stated that there 
will be opportunities to make changes although many property owners are eager to have the plan 
finalized.   
 
Ed Spirko, West Milford Zoning Board stated that he is speaking as a resident on this topic.  He 
stated that he lives in a planned development area and he questioned the impact on any further 
development on the existing infrastructure.  He asked where the data on failing septic systems 
originated to which Mr. Borden replied that the DEP has been a partner with the Highlands 
Council in this.  He further noted that neither the Highlands Council nor the DEP are dictating the 
solution but rather their focus is on identifying the problems.  He noted that there was a bias in 
the process to find a system to provide water resources for the state.  Mr. Spirko reasserted the 
need for lake communities to be treated separately. 
 
Wayne Reid, Mount Glen Lakes Association noted that specific lots around Mount Glen Lakes are 
highlighted in the map without any back-up information and he asked if West Milford officials 
contributed to these designations.  Mr. Borden noted that the Township Council approved an MP3 
grant which funded a pilot project for the purpose of identifying issues.   
 
Grace Bertino, Ringwood resident stated that the concept of a user fee for watershed 
communities seems illusive.  She encouraged all residents to put pressure on our legislators to 
make it a reality.  She asked questions about a friend�s property to which Mr. Borden 
recommended that her friend contact Patty Sly at 908-879-6737, the Highlands Council office. 
 



------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
TOWNSHIP OF WEST MILFORD, COUNTY OF PASSAIC, NEW JERSEY 
 
Minutes of: Township Council Special Meeting 
Date of Meeting: February 20, 2007 
Time of Meeting: 7:30 P.M. 
Minute Page No: Page 5 of 6 
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Chris Nissa, Ringwood resident stated that the Highlands Council should contact local lake 
community representatives because their communities will be directly affected by this Act.   
 
Ross Kushner, Pequannack River Coalition noted that not all purple areas are located on lakes.  
He stated that, as a member of the Pequannack River Coalition, he is concerned that these 
designations are properly placed.  He noted that, the Highlands map indicates that sensitive 
waterways have growth designations.  He stated that it is not responsible for the Highlands 
Council to put a stamp of approval for growth in those areas.  Existing infrastructure should 
impact the designation. 
 
Robin O�Hearn, Skylands Clean stated that the Highlands Act affords options for development.  
She stated that the planned zone designations on the map are mirrors of the sewer maps 
generated thirty years ago.  This is contrary to the goal of the Highlands Act which is to protect 
the water supply.  It is impossible to preserve water if the growth areas are all along the 
waterways.  She asked how municipalities resolve 1st and 2nd round COAH obligations in the face 
of the Highlands Act.  Mr. Borden stated that municipalities should not ignore 1st and 2nd round 
COAH obligations but noted that a court has put a stay on the 3rd round.  Ms. O�Hearn stated that 
she is not in favor of lake management zones.  She would prefer a lake management policy to 
guide towns on the particular legislation they need to enhance water quality.  Mr. Borden stated 
that the Highlands Council welcomes comments on how this should be tackled. 
 
Doris Aaronson, West Milford stated that the words she is hearing tonight are all pretty but the 
specifics are already on paper.  The purple zones on the Highlands map are planned growth 
areas.  She stated that West Milford already has a water deficit.  Every home near the proposed 
Eagle Ridge development has experienced drought conditions.  She indicated various areas on 
the map that she stated have polluted wells, but those areas have been designated by the 
Highlands Council as planned growth areas.  She stated that the purple blotches should be 
removed. 
 
Dave Lynch, Upper Greenwood Lake, West Milford stated that redevelopment zones around the 
lakes take care of themselves.  Upper Greenwood Lake is wall-to-wall homes surrounded by 
state land and Newark watershed.  He stated that the Highlands Council is doing nothing to help 
lake communities and added that the Highlands Council recently denied permits for lake de-silting 
programs that are necessary for the health of our lakes.   
 
Bettina Bieri, West Milford thanked the Council for their comments, concerns and questions.  She 
stated that it would be helpful if the Highlands Council would be specific in their reports and 
documents saying that there should be aid to watershed municipalities for property tax relief.  Mr. 
Borden stated that the Highlands Council supports the concept that dedicated funds be directed 
back to the Highlands region.  Ms. Bieri stated that, while everyone believes in the intent of the 
Act, she has concerns about the purple blotches.  Because growth has been a pattern in those 
areas does not necessarily mean that continued growth should be supported.  She stated that the 
Highlands Council has a fiduciary responsibility to protect the land and water.  Placing that 
burden on the municipalities is in defiance of the goals of the Act.  West Milford does not want the 
development outlined in the Highlands map.  She asked that the Highlands Council develop lake 
policies to ensure there is protection for West Milford lakes. 
 
Carl Richko, West Milford thanked Mr. Borden for speaking to the community tonight.  He asked if 
the Highlands Council would benefit from having the two hydrogeology studies conducted by 
West Milford in the past twenty years.  Mr. Borden stated that they have those documents. 
 
Jim Novack, West Milford asked if it appears in writing that the municipality has the authority to 
determine growth in the purple zones to which Mr. Borden responded in the affirmative.  Mr. 
Novack noted that many of those areas are on Newark watershed and state-owned land.  The 
Township has already fought against development on Newark watershed property. 
 
Kathleen Caren, West Milford stated that many of the purple blotches do not correlate with a 2006 
report she has that specifically addresses planned areas.  She urged the Highlands Council to 
eliminate the purple blotches from their map. 
 
Councilman Weisbecker made a motion to close the public portion of the meeting. 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Moved:   Weisbecker   Seconded:  Smolinski 
Voted Aye:   Weisbecker, Smolinski, Schimmenti, Nolan, Warden, Scangarello. 
Voted Nay:   None. 
Motion carried. 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 



------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
TOWNSHIP OF WEST MILFORD, COUNTY OF PASSAIC, NEW JERSEY 
 
Minutes of: Township Council Special Meeting 
Date of Meeting: February 20, 2007 
Time of Meeting: 7:30 P.M. 
Minute Page No: Page 6 of 6 
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Mayor DiDonato stated that the Highlands Council resolution adopted in 2006 contains the 
statements about the water surcharge.  However, he states that the resolution is not specific and 
does not drive home the point that these municipalities protecting the water supply need a 
permanent water surcharge. 
 
Councilman Weisbecker asked for an explanation of TDRs and how they relate to West Milford.  
Mr. Borden stated that a TDR, when capitalized, means that the payment would go into a bank 
and the landowner could quantify development potential lost.  The TDR valuation is based on the 
value of the land pre-Highlands Act.  The law requires that Green Acres conducts two appraisals.  
Councilman Weisbecker asked if the Highlands Council is working with New York to protect 
Greenwood Lake which is partially located in New York State.  Mr. Borden stated that the initial 
focus is New Jersey and they will then consider working with states that border our state.  In 
response to a statement from Councilman Weisbecker about development, Mr. Borden stated 
that it is not the intention of the Highlands Council to control development.  Rather, they will assist 
local municipalities in adopting ordinances that protect local resources.   
 
Councilman Smolinski thanked the Highlands representatives for attending tonight�s meeting. 
 
Councilman Nolan stated that the Township Council will be submitting comments because West 
Milford needs more aid.  He asked that there be a level of fairness so that the 4 million users of 
the water pay West Milford for the resources being provided and protected. 
 
Councilman Warden noted that all the open space in Wayne has disappeared over the years.  
West Milford, Ringwood and Vernon have only one chance to stop development and the 
Highlands Act is it.  The Highlands Council must get it right and thus far it is not up to par.  He 
expressed hope that the Highlands Council is listening to the comments about purple blotches, 
development and aid. 
 
Councilman Scangarello thanked Mr. Borden and Ms. Haddock-Weiler for engaging in this 
dialogue in West Milford tonight. 
 
Adjournment 
 
There being no further business to come before the Council, the Township Council adjourned the 
meeting at 10:13 p.m.   
-------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Moved:   Nolan   Seconded:  Weisbecker 
Voted Aye:   Weisbecker, Smolinski, Schimmenti, Nolan, Warden, Scangarello. 
Voted Nay:   None. 
Motion carried. 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
Approved:  March 28, 2007 

 
_________________________________ 

MAYOR JOSEPH DIDONATO 
PRESIDING OFFICER 

 
 

_________________________________ 
ANTOINETTE BATTAGLIA 

TOWNSHIP CLERK 


